

# Submission to the Select Committee on Child Protection.

Issues for consideration in reviewing Tasmania's child protection system.



November 2010

#### **About the Authors**

Carol Ronken is Bravehearts' Research and Policy Development Manager. After seven years at Griffith University as a casual staff member and Associate Lecturer in the School of Criminology and Criminal Justice, Carol joined Bravehearts in early 2003. With a Bachelor of Arts (psychology) and Masters in Applied Sociology (social research), Carol is dedicated to making a difference in the lives of those touched by child sexual assault and is focused on advocating for greater awareness and effective, proactive system responses.

Hetty Johnston is Founder and Executive Director of Bravehearts Inc., whose purpose is to provide therapy, support and advocacy services to survivors of child sexual assault. Hetty is the author of the national awareness campaign, "White Balloon Day", the "Sexual Assault Disclosure Scheme", the "Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure!" child protection CD-Rom and her autobiography, "In the best interests of the child" (2004). In 2005, Hetty was announced one of 4 Queensland finalists for the 2006 Australian of the Year Awards.

This submission has been prepared by:

Bravehearts Inc

PO Box 575

Arundel BC, Qld 4214

Phone: 07 5552 3000

E-mail: research@bravehearts.org.au Web: www.bravehearts.org.au

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	1
ABOUT BRAVEHEARTS INC.	2
CHILD SEXUAL ASSAULT	3
Taking Child Sexual Assault 'Out of the Pot'	3
Defining the Problem	5
EFFECTIVE CHILD PROTECTION SYSTEMS	8
Improving Transparency – Protecting kids from systems abuse	8
Information Management: Decision-making and case management	8
Strengthened Partnerships	9
PREVENTION, EDUCATION AND AWARENESS	12
Prevention Programs Aimed at Children	12
Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure Program	13
Prevention through Professional Development	14
Child Protection Workers and Child-Focussed Orgnaisations	15
White Balloon Awareness Campaigns	16
REFERENCES	18

# Introduction



Bravehearts Inc remain Australia's leading child protection advocates in the area of child sexual assault and are recognised as such nationally by governments, media and the community at large. We remain the only registered PBI dedicated holistically and specifically to the issue of child sexual assault.

While we are aware the issues raised in the area of child protection are far wider than those confined to the focus of Bravehearts and that many of our recommendations do have wider implications, we stress that the bulk of this submission is never-the-less centred around the issue of child sexual assault.

# About Bravehearts Inc.



Founded in 1997 by Hetty Johnston, Bravehearts Inc. has evolved into an organisation whose purpose is to provide therapeutic, support and advocacy services to survivors of child sexual assault. We are also actively involved in education, prevention, early intervention and research programs relating to child sexual assault.

Bravehearts operates at a National level, from our Head Office on the Gold Coast, advocating and lobbying across the country, with a physical presence in three States: Queensland (Gold Coast, Brisbane and Cairns), New South Wales (Sydney and Shoalhaven) and Victoria (Shepparton). Our branch in Cairns is funded by the Commonwealth Government to deliver our proven child sexual assault prevention and early intervention programs to the Indigenous children and communities of FNQ. The programs success is achieved by Bravehearts working in collaboration with the Royal Flying Doctors and others to travel into North Queensland's most remote Indigenous communities.

Bravehearts has a regional committee in Launceston and is aiming to establish the Bravehearts' education program in the region in 2011.

Bravehearts makes a difference in child protection by:

- Assisting children and their non-offending family members to recover from the trauma of child sexual assault through therapy, advocacy and support;
- Raising awareness via initiatives such as the 'White Balloon Campaign' a public awareness and child protection initiative;
- Protecting survivors and providing them with avenues of redress through projects like the 'Sexual Assault Disclosure Scheme' (SADS) – a means for anonymous yet official disclosure of assault;
- Providing and developing effective education and prevention programs (Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure) to empower children and young people and increase their resiliency to child sexual assault;
- Advocating for survivor's rights through participation in legislative review and reform (successful campaigns include: the introduction in Queensland, New South Wales, Western Australia, Victoria and South Australia of Continuing Sentences for dangerous paedophiles; the closure of Queensland's Department of Family Services; the introduction of Section 189, the right for children and their families to speak publicly; the introduction of the Amber Alert system in Australia; the instigation of various formal Inquiries; and successful amendments to legislation);
- Raising community awareness through participation in public debate and in the accumulation, production and dissemination of relevant research material; and
- Supporting the work of other agencies (government and non-government) and individuals in their work around child sexual assault.

# **Child Sexual Assault**



# Taking Child Sexual Assault 'Out of the Pot'

Bravehearts long held belief and policy position that the issue of child sexual assault and those of child abuse and neglect are discernibly different and require discernibly different responses has finally been heard and upheld by the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) on 30<sup>th</sup> April, 2009.

In working with the Federal Governments Working Party in the development of a National Framework for the Protection of Australia's Children, and in what we believe is an International first, Bravehearts successfully lobbied to have child sexual assault recognised as distinct from child abuse and neglect and requiring of a distinct response and specific resourcing. The signing of the COAG Agreement means this distinction will now be echoed across child protection systems in every State and Territory around the Nation. "Protecting Children is Everyone's Business: National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children 2009-2020" (COAG, 2009) will form the basis of child protection agendas over the next decade. Outcome Six of this document outlines the way forward for finally dealing with child sexual assault. Governments across the country are now finally committed to recognising and responding to child sexual assault specifically.

Traditionally, child sexual assault has been 'lumped in the same pot' as child abuse and neglect. However, while all forms of abuse and assault are harmful to children it is important to take child sexual assault 'out of the 'pot' as the dynamics are fundamentally different. Recognising these differences is necessary to effectively address, respond to and prevent child sexual assault.

# Some of the important differences include:

- Acts of child abuse and neglect are generally unplanned, re-active and are generally aligned with socio-economic and/or family dysfunction issues and are comparatively predominant in areas of social disadvantage.
  - **Sexual assaults** against children are almost always pre-meditated, involving predatory acts of grooming, manipulation, self-gratification and exploitation, and occur widely across the various socio-economic areas.
- Child abuse and neglect more commonly involve the infliction of pain, violence and aggressive force.
  - **Child sexual assault** more commonly involves manipulation, intimidation and sexual contact
- **Child abuse and neglect** are nearly always perpetrated by a parent or primary caregiver (in an estimated 90% of cases).
  - **Child sexual assault** is generally perpetrated by a male (in excess of 90% of cases) and more likely to be perpetrated by someone known to the child or their family (research varies but commonly finds between 85% and 95% of the time). Of those offenders known to the child most commonly the offender is <u>not</u> living with the child (approx 70%).
- Child abuse and neglect offences are almost always intra-familial.

Child sex assault offences are commonly extra-familial as well as intra-familial.

• Child sexual assault always involves the three S's: Shame; Silence; Secrecy

While State and Territory Governments have statutory responsibilities for child protection generally the overwhelming bulk of funding is directed at tertiary Statutory intervention responses. Statutory intervention will occur where the offender is living in the house with the child and where there is not a parent or carer willing and able to protect the child. Given most child sex offences are committed by people not living in the house with the child (70%), the need for Statutory intervention for these victims is void and as such, the offences are not officially counted in prevalence reporting.

Reporting to child protection departments is further reduced because, even in cases where the offender is living in the house with the child, most often there is a parent or carer who does act protectively to expel the offender and protect the child. This action creates a desirable positive situation but again, no statutory intervention is required so no official recording of the offence occurs; unless the matter is subject to a criminal investigation. Importantly however, the child and family still require professional support.

As a result, child sexual assault prevalence statistics produced by departments of child protection generally report very low instances of child sexual assault in comparison to child abuse and neglect (see Table below). In addition, and as a result of these low statistical recordings, State and Territory Government child protection funding to this critical area is limited along with recognition, response and acknowledgement of the prevalence and social implications of child sexual assault.

Percentages of children subject to substantiated notifications by Type of harm (2008-2009) (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010)

Type of Harm	NSW	Vic	Qld	WA	SA	Tas	ACT	NT
Physical abuse	19.6	39.0	25.6	20.6	11.1	13.3	17.0	25.9
Emotional Abuse	34.8	45.6	37.9	17.8	51.7	47.7	40.1	25.2
Neglect	29.5	8.1	29.5	41.2	32.2	33.2	38.7	38.8
Sexual assault	16.1	7.3	7.1	20.4	5.0	5.8	4.2	10.1
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Research shows that there is a critical under-reporting of child sexual assault matters more generally. Smallbone and Wortley (2000) found that one in five parents who were aware that their child had been sexually assaulted, did not report. Over 50% of victims never report to anyone, and many who do report do not do so until adulthood (Queensland Crime Commission & Queensland Police Service, 2000).

Bravehearts receive most of its clients through police, other community agency referrals, self-referrals, and referrals from schools, and GP's. These statistics do not form part of any structured statistical count and as such, child sexual assault is not only grossly under-reported, it is grossly under-estimated and under-funded.

Bravehearts is proud that national recognition now exists to support our long held policy position that the offences of child abuse and neglect are different in nature, motivation and victimisation and that while child sexual assault and child abuse and neglect are both incredibly traumatic for children, their differences dictate that they should be addressed separately.

Our goal is to work to ensure that this distinction will result in improved statistical recording and improved responses and resourcing.

**RECOMMENDATION 1:** Bravehearts recommend the Tasmanian Government consider child sexual assault and child abuse and neglect as distinct forms of child harm, each requiring a distinct response and each requiring adequate resourcing, and that the distinction be incorporated into all policy documents.

## **Defining the Problem.**

Child sexual assault is a hidden but significant problem in every community in Australia.

One in three girls and one in six boys will be sexually abused in some way before the age of 18 years (Australian Institute of Criminology, 1993).

Experts estimate that less than one in ten of these children will tell.

Research clearly shows that individuals who are sexually assaulted as children are far more likely to experience psychological problems often lasting into adulthood, including: Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, depression, substance abuse and relationship problems. Child sexual assault does not discriminate along lines of region, race, creed, socio-economic status or gender; it crosses all boundaries to impact every community and every person in Australia.

Research suggests that many adults are unaware of effective steps they can take to protect children from sexual assault (Australian Childhood Foundation, 2009). Most do not know how to recognise signs of sexual assault and many do not know what to do when sexual assault is suspected or discovered.

#### Prevalence:

45% of females and 19% of males have been the victim of 'non-contact inclusive' child sexual abuse and 39% of females and 13% of males have been the victim of 'non-contact exclusive' child sexual abuse. (Goldman and Padayachi, 1997)

Girls and boys of all ages are sexually abused and victims are sometimes toddlers, young children and even babies. (NSW Child Protection Council, 2000)

Research shows a staggering 45% of women aged 18-41 were sexually abused as children by family members (30%), friends or family friends (50%) or strangers (14%). 75% of the abuse involved some contact, most of which was shockingly severe. (Watson, B., Griffith University, Herald Sun, 9<sup>th</sup> October, 2007)

In spite of the high non-disclosure rates and the difficulty in substantiating abuse, during 2008-09 a total of 3735 cases of sexual abuse against children were substantiated. (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010)

5.8% of notifications substantiated by the Northern Territory's Department of Health and Families were related to child sexual assault. (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010)

#### Disclosure & Reporting:

In 98% of all child abuse cases reported to officials, children's statements were found to be true. (NSW Child Protection Council, cited in Dympna House, 1998)

A 1998 study involving 400 clients of Family Planning Qld, found 55% of all the women in the sample had experienced childhood sexual abuse before the age of 16. Only 36% of those who had experienced abuse had ever told anyone of those events prior to their disclosure during the study interview. Only 8 victims (3.5%) had taken legal action against their offenders and only five were aware of the outcome of those actions (two offenders were convicted, two had no further action taken and one resulted in a criminal record only). (Queensland Criminal Justice Commission, 1999)

About half of the victims of child sexual abuse never report the abuse to another person and many do not disclose until they reach adulthood. (Queensland Crime Commission & Queensland Police Service, 2000)

169 child sex offenders who admitted having committed at least one sexual offence against a child later disclosed offences concerning 1010 children (748 boys and 262 girls) of which only 393 (38.9%) were reported to have been associated with official convictions. (Smallbone & Wortley, 2000)

One in five parents who were aware that their child had been sexually abused did not report the abuse. (Smallbone & Wortley, 2000)

28% disclose sexual assault to the authorities. (Queensland Crime and Misconduct Commission, 2003)

## Offenders:

International research suggests that sex offenders are generally older than most other types of offenders. The mean age of over 9,000 sex offenders was found to be 36 years. (Hanson, Gordon, Harris, Marques, Murphy, Quinsey & Seto, 2002)

Most children know the perpetrator with studies estimating between 10-30% of offenders were strangers. (National Child Protection Clearinghouse, 2005)

Non-biological family members (stepfather or mother's defacto) are disproportionately represented as sex offenders. For example, Russell (1989) reported that girls living with stepfathers were at a markedly increased risk: 17% had been sexually abused compared with 2.3% of girls living with biological fathers. (National Child Protection Clearinghouse, 2005)

Female sex offenders are responsible for 6 % of all reported cases of sexual abuse against children. (ChildWise study, cited in The Australian, 7<sup>th</sup> March 2006)

### Convicting, Treating & Managing Sex Offenders:

Only about 17% of reported sexual offences result in a conviction, a figure consistent with data from other States and overseas. (Queensland Crime and Misconduct Commission, 2003)

Less than 2% of cases reported to police, where the offender is a female, result in a jail term, compared with 16.5% of cases involving men. (ChildWise study, cited in The Australian, 7<sup>th</sup> March 2006)

90% of reported sex assaults do not end up in convictions. (Fitzgerald, 2006)

Only 17% of reported sex assaults end up in court. (Fitzgerald, 2006)

56% of defendants in sexual assault cases are found not guilty. (Fitzgerald, 2006)

#### Cost

A recent Australian study funded by a Criminology Research Council Grant, conservatively estimates the (tangibles) cost to society of child sexual assault to be in excess of \$180,000 per child. (Briggs, 1999)

One in five children will be sexually assaulted before their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.

The ABS reports the number of children under the age of 18 in the Tasmania to be 118,397

Statistically (based on the statistic that 1 in 5 will be, are being or have been, sexually assaulted before their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday), 23,679 Tasmanian children be affected by child sexual assault.

# **Effective Child Protection Systems**



## Improving Transparency – Protecting kids from systems abuse

There must be clear accountability and transparency at all levels, from decision-making to how complaints are dealt with, to ensure not only that the system is being run effectively and in line with child protection goals (including the best interests of the child) but also to assure public confidence in the system.

A child protection department that is underpinned by a culture of quality and continuous improvement should include the establishment of key performance indicators and the monitoring and compliance against these standards to ensure that the department is accountable and effective. Annual self-assessments and external reviews would help to aid in not only the improvement of the service but the confidence the community has that the department is responding to needs.

External oversight of the department should be clearly articulated as a responsibility of the Commissioner for Children and information about this role articulated clearly to the public to ensure confidence in the independence and separation of the Commissioner in assuring the accountability and effectiveness of the child protection authority and addressing complaints and concerns.

**RECOMMENDATION 2:** Bravehearts recommends ensuring the independence of the Commissioner for Children as a body separate to and responsible for the oversight of the statutory child protection body. The roles of the Office should be clearly articulated to the public.

## Information Management: Decision-making and case management

Linked to the issue of transparency is the need to implement an effective information management system to support more effective decision-making and case management. We support a framework for developing an efficient information management system that includes:

- Secure access to information for users across the department.
- An audit trail of any changes to information.
- Alignment with business practices and relevant legislation.
- State-wide access to information.
- Decentralized information input.
- Real-time updates.
- In-depth reporting tools.
- Intuitive workflows for staff.
- Automated forms-based information entry.
- Scalability and flexibility.

In addition to having a proficient information management system to manage the complex needs of clients, the Queensland Department of Child Safety and the New South Wales Department of Community Services have also introduced Structured Decision Making Systems.

Being able to provide appropriate response to child protection concerns is a fundamental role of child protection departments across the nation. The objectives of Structured Decision Making are to:

- identify and structure critical decision points;
- increase consistency in decision-making;
- increase accuracy of decision-making;
- target resources to families most at risk; and
- use case level data to inform decisions throughout the agency.

In Queensland the Structured Decision Making System, developed by the Children's Research Centre (CRC) in the United States of America, is used to guide decisions at critical points along the child protection continuum of work – intake, investigation and assessment, ongoing intervention and closure. The tools assist decision-making, but they do not make the decision. There remains an important need for quality professional judgement in using the tools and making decisions. We understand that the same system is being tailored for introduction into New South Wales.

**RECOMMENDATION 3:** Bravehearts recommends the investigation of a Structured Decision Making model for assessing child protection notifications and to guide decision-making through the process from notification to closure.

## **Strengthened Partnerships**

One of the most crucial avenues to increasing the effectiveness of child protection responses is for government to better engage in a 'multi-disciplinary and multi-agency approach', both within government and with external agencies. This approach assists both statutory bodies and non-government service providers to meet the demands for services targeting improved support for children and families.

In response to the 2004 Queensland Crime and Misconduct Inquiry into the former Department of Families, the Queensland Government established a *Child Safety Directors Network*, appointing Child Safety Directors across Government departments, with the aim to ensure cross-department responses and policies are developed and implemented to provide a whole-of-government approach to child protection. This has been designed to recognise the complex needs of families that the department works with and the range of issues that impact on child protection. Unfortunately, our view is that the initiative failed to provide any real benefits in Queensland but not due to the concept being flawed but rather, due to the lack of resourcing and committed engagement with the concept. Bravehearts believe that properly structured and resourced, such a network has the potential to play a key role in the promotion of child protection across departments.

**RECOMMENDATION 4:** Bravehearts recommend the Tasmanian Government consider the introduction of Child Protection Directors across all Government Departments and that these Directors become the contact point for all external department inquiries around child protection matters pertaining to their Department.

Bravehearts believes that a State-wide partnership taskforce should be established to strengthen the coordination between Government and non-government agencies. In contrast to the statutory role of the Government departments, the supportive service provision functions of non-government agencies provide an essential and valuable mechanism for increasing the ability to provide necessary services to children and families in need. It is generally accepted that a well-coordinated child protection system, inclusive of non-government agencies, leads to more effective interventions and improved service delivery.

**RECOMMENDATION 5:** Bravehearts also recommends that a State-wide partnership taskforce be established to strengthen the coordination between Government and non-government agencies.

The crux of any child protection system is the adequate resourcing of both government and non-government services. Without adequate resources, no system can expect to adequately protect children or enhance family welfare.

There needs to be assurances that non-government, community service providers are properly resourced. Community organisations are currently placed in a situation that requires them to aggressively compete against each other for limited funds. This competitive environment is not conducive to effective partnerships and network building. There needs to be an assurance that funds will be allocated via a transparent process that is fair and equitable.

The resourcing of child protection must reflect the levels of need and demand placed upon services. Early intervention and prevention services are often caught in the complex pincer movement of greater expectations of delivery and limited resourcing.

The roles of these programs in preventing children from becoming involved with the Department cannot be overstated. Governments need to focus on not just responding to child protection concerns, but actively supporting effective and proven preventative programs.

External oversight is another potential initiative that would provide increased systemic transparency and accountability within Government. Increased transparency and accountability are necessary within the child protection regime particularly those that would expose system failures at the first sign of harm.

Bravehearts believe a potential way to achieve this is by the introduction of Child Protection Review Committee, convened by the Commissioner for Children and made up of NGO stakeholders including child protection agencies, police, therapeutic specialists and legal representatives.

**RECOMMENDATION 6:** Bravehearts recommend consideration be given to the establishment of an External Child Protection Review Committee, chaired by the Children's Commissioner. The Committee would provide external oversight and thus increased transparency and accountability to government decisions and processes.

# Prevention, Education and Awareness



Services providing early intervention and prevention around child protection are a fundamental key to achieving long-term reductions in child protection notifications and providing for the over-all safety and well-being of children. Services need to be targeted not just towards children and families where there has been an identified problem, but also more universally introduced, at a community level, in the early years of a child's life. The resourcing of early intervention and prevention is crucial and budgetary allocations need to be made to funding proven, effective programs that demonstrate best practice. Effective intervention early on is essential in better responding to child protection concerns and minimising the negative outcomes for children and families.

Non-government agencies are perfectly situated to provide service response to meet the needs of children and families. It would be recommended that the Tasmanian Department of Health and Human Services, Child Protection Services, engage with nongovernment agencies that are specialised in the fields of child protection in order to provide appropriate support to children and families in need. Collaborative working relationships between Government and non-government are essential for better delivery of targeted and specialised services.

As an agency that works specifically within the area of child sexual assault, Bravehearts recognise the incredible importance of general prevention and education in reducing prevalence of child sexual assault and child abuse in our communities. Research has incontrovertibly found that one of the greatest tools for reducing child sexual assault in our communities is awareness and education. This includes prevention programs targeted at children and programs targeted to adults.

## **Prevention Programs Aimed at Children**

Public awareness of the problem of child sexual assault has grown to a point whereby concerns have emphasised the need for widespread preventative programs to be implemented. In 1997 the Woods Royal Commission recommended a focus on the "broad community education programs including information on children's rights, empowering children to speak out, to say NO to adults, to understand their bodies and their rights around the touching of their bodies". In line with this, a strong feature of the published research on personal safety programs has been the evidence that suggests that preventative strategies are far more cost effective than trying to fix the problem after the fact.

Accordingly, school-based personal safety programs have emerged increasingly over the last two decades across the US, Canada, NZ, UK and Australia (Briggs & Hawkins, 1994; Browne & Lynch, 1994; Poole & Tomison, 2000). School-based personal safety programs play a vital role in preventing child sexual assault, equipping children with the knowledge and skills they need to identify unsafe or risky situations, and giving them an understanding of their rights to protect themselves and their own body.

The introduction of personal safety education within schools appears to be a logical progression. Not only do schools have the ability to reach large numbers of children at the one time, but their primary purpose is to be a place of learning. In schools children are taught how to stay safe in traffic, how to stay safe from fire, water and electricity; it was logical that schools should progress to also teach children how to stay safe with people. Generally, personal safety education in schools has been a teacher-facilitated process, whereby teachers are provided with a range of safety topics to cover at their discretion; given the choice, however, many teachers report preferring to discuss 'safe' topics such as road safety over other more difficult topics as domestic violence and sexual assault (Whiteside, 2001). Given the sensitive nature of discussing such topics as sexual assault, it is understandable why teachers can feel apprehensive in talking with their students about these issues, and why a substantial minority of teachers choose to not cover any protective behaviour material in their classroom.

Some of the main barriers to teacher's confidence in delivering education material around the issue of sexual assault include being uncomfortable with the program content, unsure of how to respond to potential disclosures of harm by their students, and limited training and support on how to deliver the protective behaviour components. Despite the concerns teachers may have in including protecting behaviours into their curriculum, it is clear that teachers recognise the importance of its inclusion, and in order to teach this material effectively and comfortably, teachers acknowledge the need for adequate training, information and support to do this.

# **Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure Program**

To address the gaps in personal safety education in Australian schools, Bravehearts developed *Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure (DKSA) School Based Program*, an effective, teacher-friendly, child-engaging prevention program tailored to young children from Pre-School to Grade 3. The DKSA school-based program is based on the principles of Bravehearts successful and widely used *Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure CD*, which came to be from a collaborative effort between child protection advocates, psychologists, Queensland Police, the Commission for Children and Young People (Qld), State and Commonwealth Ministers, Crime and Misconduct Commission (Qld) and marketing and advertising experts.

The overall objective of the program is to help educate children in the fundamental principles of personal safety in a gentle, non-confronting way, using language and concepts that children, teachers and parents can feel comfortable using. Consisting of a live 30 minute show which uses songs to link in the key show messages, DKSA – *School Based Program* is fun, non-threatening and focuses on interactively teaching children how to identify a wide-range of potentially unsafe situations, and providing them with the knowledge and skills on how to respond appropriately. The main aims of the programs are to provide teachers, children, and parents with appropriate language to discuss the topic of personal safety comfortably, assist children with the development of resiliency and protective factors, and empower children to disclose information on any unsafe situation.

As well as including existing protection principles already working in established prevention programs, the DKSA school-based program incorporates a set of learning objectives informed by research on disclosure principles and child sexual offender behaviour. The DKSA model covers: differentiating between 'yes' and 'no' feelings (reinforcing children's natural emotional regulation); recognising 'warning' signs (identifies the emotional and physiological responses to potentially threatening experiences); identifying private parts (the importance of teaching children which parts of their bodies are exclusively theirs has been supported by research, as offenders often exploit children's lack of knowledge); distinguishing between 'good' and 'bad' secrets (the inclusion of secrets is considered important as secrecy plays such a fundamental role in child sexual assault); and identifying what to do if they feel unsafe or unsure in situations (gives children the knowledge that they are allowed to tell someone if they are not feeling safe).

The importance and impact of proven, research-based programs can be seen in the results of an independent evaluation of Bravehearts' education. The external evaluation determined that the *Ditto's Keep Safe Adventure* program has the potential to reduce child sexual assault by up to 50 per cent. In 2008 Bravehearts received Federal Government funding to deliver the program to Indigenous children in the Cairns and Far North Queensland regions. The program was adapted slightly and a new character introduced.

The promise of child sexual assault and child abuse prevention is that it effects savings in several important areas. The most obvious savings are, of course, in the lives of the children who will not suffer the devastating effects of sexual assault or child abuse. Beyond their benefit, we accrue both tangible and intangible dividends as a society. We benefit when children grow into their potential as full contributors to the life and fabric of society. Finally, through prevention we can save the staggering amounts of money spent annually dealing with the consequences.

**RECOMMENDATION 7:** Bravehearts recommend the Tasmanian Government ensure the support of both personal safety curriculum in Tasmanian schools and resourcing for additional program support.

# **Prevention through Professional Development**

Child sexual assault is a hidden but significant problem in every community in Australia. Experts estimate that one in four girls and one in six boys will be sexually assaulted before their 18th birthday. Less than one in ten will tell. Research clearly shows that individuals who are sexually assaulted as children are far more likely to experience psychological problems often lasting into adulthood, including Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, depression, substance abuse and relationship problems.

Ensuring that there is specialised and effective therapeutic support for survivors of child sexual assault is essential, yet there is a recognised gap in the training of therapists (psychologists, counsellors, social workers) in the area of child sexual assault. With the

specific dynamics of offending, and often of the relationship between the victim and the perpetrator, working with children and young people who have been sexually assaulted requires a specific skill set.

In response to this identified training/knowledge gap and the specialised nature of working with children and young people affected by child sexual assault, Bravehearts developed a Practitioner workshop aimed at training participants to work effectively with victims, and increase both practitioner knowledge and confidence in responding to those affected by child sexual assault.

In 2009, the Federal Government provided funding for Bravehearts to take this workshop across the country, providing training to 250 therapists in each capital city. Identified gaps in training of therapists included:

- Understanding the nature of child sexual assault;
- Strengthening therapeutic approaches to children affected by sexual assault;
- Effective therapeutic interventions with children who have experienced sexual assault;
- Understanding the principles behind psycho-educational tools to teach personal safety messages to children;
- Effective responses to disclosures of sexual assault within the therapeutic environment;
- Supporting parents to respond appropriately and effectively to disclosures, as well as behaviours and emotions often associated with child sexual assault;
- Understanding the toll on the therapist when working in the area of child sexual assault and identifying key self-care and organisational-care strategies to minimise this effect.
- Tailoring therapeutic responses to participants' workplace settings.

**RECOMMENDATION 8:** Bravehearts recommends that the Tasmanian Government invest in professional development training for therapists, guidance officers and chaplains in working with children who have been, or are at risk of child sexual assault.

# **Child Protection Workers and Child-Focussed Orgnaisations**

Across community services in Australia it is widely recognised that front line child protection staff require regular supervision and professional development opportunities.

Supervision should be comprised of three main parts: administration, case review and professional supervision/counselling. This supervision should occur monthly and should enable the caseworker to plan casework and administrative tasks, debrief and receive emotional support.

In addition to regular supervisory support, child protection workers need to undergo regular training and professional development. Key areas for professional development

that should be considered include: legislative requirements, transfer of formal learning to workplace, skills in engaging and working with children and families, building capacity to respond to child protection issues and specific training based on practice and research.

While positive steps can taken in empowering and building resiliency in our children – lessening their vulnerability to child sexual assault, it is equally as important that these programs are complemented by programs highlighting the responsibility adults play in keeping children safe. Adults should be taking proactive steps to protect children from this significant risk. It is unrealistic to think that a young child can take responsibility for keeping themselves safe. Adults are the ones who need to prevent, recognise and react responsibly to child sexual abuse.

Research suggests that many adults are unaware of effective steps they can take to protect their children from sexual assault (NAPCAN, 2010). Most do not know how to recognise signs of sexual assault and many do not know what to do when sexual assault is suspected or discovered. Adults working with children and young people need to have an understanding of the dynamics of child sexual assault, including the indicators and the barriers to speaking out, in order to properly address concerns or disclosures by children in their care.

**RECOMMENDATION 9:** Bravehearts recommends the Tasmanian Government provide resources to ensure that child protection workers and those working with children are educated on the issues of child sexual assault and are able to confidently and effectively respond to concerns or disclosures.

## White Balloon Awareness Campaigns

White Balloon Day (WBD) is a Bravehearts initiative, and has been held annually in the first week of September during National Child Protection Week. The 'white balloon' was adopted by Bravehearts in 1997 as a symbol of support for survivors of child sexual assault. It arose following a public meeting in Belgium in October 1996, when 300,000 people gathered with white balloons to show public sympathy and support for the parents of girls who were sexually assaulted and were either missing or murdered at the hands of a previously convicted, and then released, paedophile (Marc Dutroux).

In 1999, Queensland Police reported that WBD has prompted an unprecedented 514% increase in disclosures. This phenomenal figure indicates that WBD is a highly effective crime prevention campaign.

The National Framework for Protecting Australian's Children, signed by COAG in April 2009, recognised White Balloon Day and as an outcome the Federal Government provided funding for the national campaign (this funding has been repeated for 2010).

The major purposes of White Balloon Day are to:

• To raise awareness of child sexual assault in our society;

- To send a message of support to those who are suffering in silence;
- To demonstrate a community desire for children to be protected from sexual assault; and
- To encourage survivors to 'break the silence' and contribute to making children everywhere safer.

**RECOMMENDATION 10:** Bravehearts recommends that, in line with the National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children (Outcome 6.1), the Tasmanian Government adopt and support the awareness campaign, White Balloon Day.

# References



- Australian Childhood Foundation (2009). *Groundbreaking Study Uncovers High Level of Child Abuse and Neglect in Australia*. Media Release, Thursday 3<sup>rd</sup> September 2009.
- Australian Institute of Criminology (1993)
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2010). Child Protection Australia 2008-2009.
- Briggs, F & Hawkins, R.M.F. (1994). Follow up data on the effectiveness of new Zealand's national school-based child protection program. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 18*(8): 635-643
- Bromfield, L. & Ryan, R. (2007). National comparison of statutory child protection entry level training. *Children, Communities and Families Australia, 2*(1): 59–72.
- Browne, K. & Lynch, M. (1994). Prevention: Actions speak louder than words. *Child Abuse Review, 3*: 241-244.
- Council of Australian Governments (2009). *Protecting Children is Everyone's Business:*National framework for protecting Australia's children 2009-2020. Canberra [ACT]:

  Commonwealth Government.
- Department of Community Services (2006). Spotlight on Safety: Community attitudes to child protection, foster care and parenting. Sydney [NSW]: Department of Community Services.
- Dympna House (1998). *Info Kit: A booklet on childhood sexual abuse*. Haberfield [NSW]: Dympna House.
- Fitzgerald, J. (2006). *The Attrition of Sexual Offences from the New South Wales Criminal Justice System*. Sydney [NSW]: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics & Research, 2006.
- Goldman, J. & Padayachi (1997). The prevalence and nature of child sexual abuse in Queensland, Australia. *Child Abuse Neglect*, *21*: 489-498.
- Hanson, R.K., Gordon, A., Harris, A.J.R., Marques, J.K., Murphy, W., Quinsey, V.L. & Seto, M.C. (2002). First report of the collaborative outcome data project on the effectiveness of psychological treatment for sex offenders. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 14*(2): 169-194
- James, M. (2000). *Trends and Issues Series (no. 146). Child abuse and neglect: Redefining the issues.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- NAPCAN (2010). "Help Break Down the Wall": Community Attitudes Survey. Surrey Hills [NSW]: NAPCAN.
- National Child Protection Clearinghouse (2005). *Child Abuse Prevention Resource Sheet* (no.7)
- New South Wales Child Protection Council (2000). *Child Sexual Assault: How to talk to children*.

- Poole, L & Tomison, A (2000). Preventing child abuse in Australia: Some preliminary findings from a national audit of prevention programs. *Issues in Research & Policy* (Australian Institute of Families Conference, July 2000)
- Queensland Crime Commission and Queensland Police Service (2000a). *Project Axis: Volume 1.* Brisbane: Queensland Crime Commission.
- Queensland Crime Commission and Queensland Police Service (2000b). *Project Axis: Volume 2.* Brisbane: Queensland Crime Commission.
- Queensland Crime and Misconduct Commission (2003). Seeking Justice: An inquiry into the handling of sexual offences by the criminal justice system. Brisbane: Crime and Misconduct Commission.
- Queensland Criminal Justice Commission (1999). Reported Sexual Offences in Queensland. Brisbane: Queensland Criminal Justice Commission.
- Smallbone, S. & Wortley, R. (2000). *Child sexual abuse in Queensland: Offender characteristics and modus operandi*. Brisbane [Qld]: Queensland Crime Commission.
- Whiteside, S. (2001). Personal safety curriculum in junior primary classrooms: Are teachers teaching it? *Children Australia*, *26* (2): 31-36.
- Wood, The Hon Justice JRT. (1997). *Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service. Final Report. Volume V: The paedophile inquiry.* Sydney: NSW Government.